IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ADRIAN POWELL,

Appellant,

Docket No. 79037

Electronically Filed Oct 18 2019 03:26 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v. STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Monique McNeill, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 9862 P.O. Box 2451 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 Phone: (702) 497-9734 Fax: (702) 920-8708 Email: Monique.mcneill@yahoo.com **Attorney for Appellant Powell**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ADRIAN POWELL,

Appellant,

v. STATE OF NEVADA, Docket No. 79037

Respondent.

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis for Supreme Court's or Court of Appeal's Jurisdiction:

This appeal is from a Judgment of Conviction via a Guilty Plea Agreement, which was filed on July 31, 2018, and appellate jurisdiction in this case derives from Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (4)(b), and NRS 177.015(3)-(4). AA 019.

B. The Filing Dates Establishing the Timeliness of the Appeal: Judgment of Conviction Filed: 07/31/2018 Notice of Appeal Filed: 06/14/2019

C. Assertion that Appeal is From a Final Order or Judgment:

This Appeal is from a Judgment of Conviction in a Criminal Matter; thus, jurisdiction is proper before this Court.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is appropriately assigned to the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2)(A) because it is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict on a category A felony.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN NOT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE MOTION TO WITHDRAW THE GUILTY PLEA? II. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN NOT GRANTING THE MOTION TO WITHDRAW THE GUILTY PLEA?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Adrian Powell with Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (2 counts), Burglary while in Possession of a Firearm (2 counts), First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon (3 counts), Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon (7 counts), Unlawful Taking of a Vehicle. AA1-8. On July 31, 2018, Powell entered a plea to Counts 1 and 8 (Conspiracy to Commit Robbery), Counts 2 and 9 (Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon, Counts 3 and 13 (First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon), Counts 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 11 and 14 (R0bbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon). AA18. The State retained the right to argue, including for consecutive time between the counts, but the State agreed not to seek a life sentence on any count. AA18-19. The State agreed not to file on 10 separate events. AA19.

Prior to sentencing, Powell filed a Motion to Withdraw his guilty plea. AA33. The district court heard on the motion, but denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. AA71-90.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Powell entered a plea of guilt to most of the counts in the Indictment on the second day of trial. AA34. Prior to the Court sentencing Powell, he asked the district court to allow him to withdraw his plea. AA34. Powell contended that he did not receive effective assistance of counsel with regard to the entry of his plea, and the diligence of his counsel in insuring that Powell was fully informed regarding the case against him. AA34.

As part of the plea negotiations, the State agreed not to file charges against Powell on ten separate, uncharged events. AA34. However, that attorney did not have discovery on those other events at the time the advised Powell regarding the offer, as co-defendant counsel confirmed that the State did not even provide discovery on the uncharged events to attorneys until after Powell entered his plea. AA34, 42, 35. Counsel therefore advised client about a deal where the State was using as leverage cases that the attorney knew nothing about. Subsequent counsel reviewed discovery related to those ten cases and found that there was nothing in those police reports tying the defendant to the crimes contained in the reports.

2

Further, prior to trial, counsel had limited contact with Powell, visiting Powell only twice during the entire course of his representation. AA42. Prior counsel did not review discovery with Powell, instead counsel merely handed Powell bits and pieces of the discovery, without any explanation. AA42. On the second day of trial, with Powell sitting in the court room unprepared and having had no meaningful contact with his counsel on a case carrying life sentence charges, counsel told Powell that if he did not take the deal he was going to "spend the rest of his life in prison." AA42. The attorney told Powell that he could have had a deal for a three to eight year sentence if it were not for the uncharged cases against the defendant. AA42. The attorney then told Powell that despite what the guilty plea agreement said, Powell would get a sentence of six to fifteen years, and when Powell told his attorney he had concerns that may not be true, counsel became angry. AA43.

Powell filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea, pre-sentencing, and the district court heard argument, but did not set an evidentiary hearing to determine what counsel told Powell, and how the uncharged cases factored into counsel's advice. Instead, the district court denied the motion. The court indicated that it was "mere speculation" that what prior counsel did or did not tell Powell and that the plea was knowing and voluntary. AA78-79. However, Powell indicated that but for counsel using the other cases to pressure him into a deal, he would not

3

necessarily entered a plea. AA43. It was paramount to establish the substance of conversations between counsel and Powell.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court should have held an evidentiary hearing to determine what counsel advised Powell regarding the plea negotiations and to determine if counsel's advise was proper, and led to Powell having a clear understanding of the position that he was in with regard to the plea negotiations.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE MOTION TO WITHDRAW THE GUILTY PLEA.

Standard of Review: This Court reviews a lower court's decision to deny an
evidentiary hearing for an abuse of discretion. *See Hargrove v. State*, 100 Nev.
498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984).

In Nevada, a district court may grant a defendant's pre-conviction motion to withdraw a guilty plea for any "substantial reason" if it is "fair and just." *Woods v. State*, 114 Nev. 468, 475, 958 P. 2d 91, 95 (1998) (citing *State v. District Court*, 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969)). *See also Stevenson v. State*, 131 Nev.___, __, 354 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2015). To determine whether the defendant

advances a substantial, fair, and just reason to withdraw a guilty plea, the district court must consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. *Woods*, 114 Nev. at 475, 958 P. 2d at 95-96 (1998). In *Stevenson v. State*, the Nevada Supreme Court noted that fair and just reasons include reasons such as a defendant establishing that there are "circumstances which might lead a jury to refuse to convict, not withstanding technical guilt," or the defendants becoming aware of some collateral consequences. *Id*.

A criminal defendant may withdraw his guilty plea if, under the totality of the circumstances, the court finds that he did not enter that plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. *Woods*, 114 Nev. at 475, 958 P.2d at 95-96 (1998); *Crawford v. State*, 117 Nev. 718, 722, 30 P. 3d 1123, 1125-26 (2001); *Baal v. State*, 106 Nev. 69, 787 P.2d 391 (1990). The guidelines for voluntariness of guilty pleas require that the record affirmatively show that the defendant entered his plea understandingly and voluntarily. See *Heffley v. Warden*, 89 Nev. 573, 574, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404 (1973). A "knowing" plea is one entered into with a full understanding of the nature of the charge and all the consequences of the plea. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 US 238 (1969) Moreover, a plea agreement is construed according to what the defendant reasonably understood when he entered the plea. *Statz v. State*, 113 Nev. 987, 993, 944 P.2d 813, 817 (1997).

A defendant who enters a guilty plea based on the advice of counsel may withdraw his plea by demonstrating that counsel performed ineffectively. *Nollette v. State*, 118 Nev. 341, 348-49, 46 P.3d 87, 92 (2002); *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). A defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on any claims that are not belied by the record. *Byford v. State*, 123 Nev. 67, 68-69, 156 P.3d 691, 692 (2007).

In this case, the district court erred when it refused to hold an evidentiary hearing to determine the substance of counsel's advice regarding the uncharged cases, as well as the possible sentence the deal carried, and whether or not Powell understood the nature of the pending trial. The State argued that Powell was never told that the charges WERE going to be filed against him, just that they would not if he took the deal. That is somewhat disingenuous. First, it stands to reason that if the charges are being used as incentive to a take a plea, then what is pregnant in the contention that the charges will not be filed is that they COULD be. Second, the State does not know what counsel told Powell regarding that leverage. The district court stated that it was speculation what counsel did or did not say to Powell during plea discussions. This is precisely why the district court should have held an evidentiary hearing. Powell makes allegations that his counsel's performance was ineffective, and that but for that ineffectiveness, Powell would not have taken the plea. The record does not belie that Powell's attorney did not

6

speak to him fully about the discovery in the charges against him prior to trial. The record does not belie that counsel rarely spoke to his client prior to trial. The record does not belie that Powell walked into his trial woefully underprepared and without any meaningful conversations with his counsel such that he understood his defenses, or understood the problems in the case. This is all the bare minimum of what an attorney should do for a client before leading them to trial.

The record also does not belie that neither Powell nor his lawyer had information regarding the ten charges being used as leverage. The record does not belie that the lawyer told him those charges were a reason to take the plea. Powell has met the threshold for an evidentiary hearing, and the district court abused its discretion in failing to hold a hearing to determine what counsel's advice was so that it could determine how that advice impacted Powell.

CONCLUSION

The district court erred in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing. Powell asks that Court remand this case back for an evidentiary hearing.