#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ADRIAN POWELL,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 06 2019 11:06 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 79037

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MONIQUE MCNEILL, ESQ. Nevada Bar #009862 P. O. Box 2451 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 (702) 497-9734

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. Appellant's plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered and he has not established a substantial reason warranting withdrawal of his plea. Further, Appellant's counsel was effective and gave him sound advice prior to his entry of plea. Indeed, the district court found that Appellant's claims were mere speculation and that he had not demonstrated trial counsel was ineffective. Additionally, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice. Therefore, Appellant's claims fail.

The district court did not abuse its discretion by not holding an evidentiary hearing on Appellant's Motion to Withdraw Plea. Here, the district court determined that it could rule on Appellant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea without expanding the record. Based on the plea canvass and the surrounding facts and circumstances, the district court found Appellant's claims lack merit and, therefore, an evidentiary hearing was unnecessary. Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Appellant's request for an evidentiary hearing and Appellant's claim fails.

//

#### **ARGUMENT**

- III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW GUILTY PLEA.
- A. Appellant's plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered and he has not established a substantial reason warranting withdrawal of his plea.

The district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Appellant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea because Appellant's claims lack merit. The district court may grant a motion to withdraw made prior to sentencing or adjudication of guilty for any substantial reason that is fair and just. State v. District Court, 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969). "On appeal from a district court's denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, this Court 'will presume that the lower court correctly assessed the validity of the plea, and [] will not reverse the lower court's determination absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion." Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1322, 905 P.2d 706, 710 (1995) (quoting Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986)).

A plea of guilty is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered into on the advice of counsel. <u>Jezierski v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). The defendant has the burden of proving that the plea was not entered knowingly or voluntarily. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 272, 721 P.2d at 368; Wynn v. State,

96 Nev. 673, 615 P.2d 946 (1980); <u>Housewright v. Powell</u>, 101 Nev. 147, 710 P.2d 73 (1985).

In determining whether a Defendant has "advanced a substantial, fair, and just reason to withdraw a [guilty] plea, the District Court must consider the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the defendant entered the plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently." Crawford v. State, 117 Nev. 718, 722, 30 P.3d 1123, 1125-26 (2001); see also Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367. A Court "has a duty to review the entire record to determine whether the plea was valid ... [and] may not simply review the plea canvass in a vacuum." Mitchell v. State, 109 Nev. 137, 141, 848 P.2d 1060, 1062 (1993). Nonetheless, a defendant has no right to withdraw his plea simply because he makes his motion prior to sentencing or because the State failed to establish actual prejudice. See Hubbard v. State, 110 Nev. 671, 675-76, 877 P.2d 519, 521 (1994).

This standard requires the court accepting the plea to personally address the defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of the charges to which he is pleading. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d at 367. A court may not rely simply on a written plea agreement without some verbal interaction with a defendant. Id. Thus, a "colloquy" is constitutionally mandated and a "colloquy" is but a conversation in a formal setting, such as that occurring between an official sitting in judgment of an accused at plea. See id. However, the court need

not conduct a ritualistic oral canvass. <u>State v. Freese</u>, 116 Nev. 1097, 13 P.3d 442 (2000). The guidelines for voluntariness of guilty pleas "do not require the articulation of talismanic phrases," but only that the record demonstrates a defendant entered his guilty plea understandingly and voluntarily. <u>Heffley v. Warden</u>, 89 Nev. 573, 575, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404 (1973); <u>see also Brady v. United States</u>, 397 U.S. 742, 747-48, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970).

Specifically, the record must affirmatively show the following: 1) the defendant knowingly waived his privilege against self-incrimination, the right to trial by jury, and the right to confront his accusers; 2) the plea was voluntary, was not coerced, and was not the result of a promise of leniency; 3) the defendant understood the consequences of his plea and the range of punishment; and 4) the defendant understood the nature of the charge, i.e., the elements of the crime. Higby v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 774, 781, 476 P.2d 950, 963 (1970). Consequently, in applying the "totality of circumstances" test, the most significant factors for review include the plea canvass and the written guilty plea agreement. See Hudson v. Warden, 117 Nev. 387, 399, 22 P.3d 1154, 1162 (2001). The presence and advice of counsel is a significant factor in determining the voluntariness of a plea of guilty. Patton v. Warden, 91 Nev. 1, 2, 530 P.2d 107, 107 (1975).

In <u>Stevenson v. State</u>, 131 Nev. 598, 604, 354 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2015), this Court found that none of the reasons presented warranted the withdrawal of

defendant's guilty plea, including allegations that the members of his defense team lied about the existence of the video in order to induce him to plead guilty. This Court found similarly unconvincing defendant's contention that he was coerced into pleading guilty based on the compounded pressures of the district court's evidentiary ruling, standby counsel's pressure to negotiate a plea, and time constraints. <u>Id.</u> As this Court noted, undue coercion occurs when a defendant is induced by promises or threats which deprive the plea of the nature of a voluntary act. <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Doe v.</u> Woodford, 508 F. 3d 563, 570 (9th Cir. 2007)).

This Court also rejected defendant's implied contention that withdrawal was warranted because he made an impulsive decision to plead guilty without knowing definitively whether the video could be viewed. Id. at 605, 354 P.3d at 1281. Defendant did not move to withdraw his plea for several months, which contradicted his claim of temporary confusion. Id. This Court made clear that one of the goals of the fair and just analysis is to allow a hastily entered plea made with unsure heart and confused mind to be undone, not to allow a defendant to make a tactical decision to enter a plea, wait several weeks, and then obtain a withdrawal if he believes that he made a bad choice in pleading guilty. Id. at 605, 354 P.3d at 1281-82 (quoting United States v. Alexander, 948 F.2d 1002, 1004 (6th Cir. 1991)). This Court found that considering the totality of the circumstances, there was no difficulty in concluding that defendant failed to present a sufficient reason to permit withdrawal

of his plea. <u>Id.</u> at 605, 354 P.3d at 1282. Permitting him to withdraw his plea under the circumstances would allow the solemn entry of a guilty plea to become a mere gesture, a temporary and meaningless formality reversible at the defendant's whim, which the Court cannot allow. <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>United States v. Barker</u>, 514 F.2d 208, 222 (D.C. Cir. 1975)).

In the instant case, Appellant signed a written Guilty Plea Agreement, wherein he acknowledged that he fully understood the entirety of the agreement, had all of his questions answered, and was knowingly and voluntarily entering his guilty pleas.

AA 000018-25. Appellant further acknowledged in his signed Guilty Plea Agreement all of the rights he was giving up by entering the agreement:

I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the following rights and privileges: 1. The constitutional privilege against selfincrimination...2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury...3. The constitutional right to confront and crossexamine any witnesses who would testify against me... I have discussed the elements of the original charge(s) against me with my attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me.... I have discussed with my attorney any possible defenses, defense strategies and circumstances which might be in my favor... All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been thoroughly explained to me by my attorney. I believe that pleading guilty and accepting this plea bargain is in my best interest, and that trial would be contrary to my best interest. I am signing this agreement voluntarily...and I am not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promise of leniency, except for those set forth in this agreement...My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guilty plea agreement and its consequences to my satisfaction and I am satisfied with the services provided by my attorney.

Id. at 000023-24.

In addition to the actual GPA, the district court discussed the terms of the agreement with both Appellant and his co-defendant extensively on the second day of trial. RA 000200-20. Specifically, on Monday, July 30, 2018, the district court and the State began the voir dire process. <u>Id.</u> at 000198. The following morning on Tuesday, July 31, 2018, the State and defense attorneys negotiated the case before voir dire resumed. <u>Id.</u> at 000199, 000201. Pursuant to the guilty plea agreements, both Appellant and co-defendant essentially "pled to the sheet," and in exchange, the State agreed to not seek Life in prison, and agreed to not file charges on ten (10) additional robbery events. <u>Id.</u> 000201-02. Because the jury trial had already commenced, the district court conducted an extremely thorough plea canvass on both Appellant and his co-defendant, and ultimately accepted their guilty pleas as freely, knowingly, and voluntarily entered. Id. at 000200-20.

After the plea canvass of the co-defendant, the district court then went on to thoroughly canvass Appellant:

THE COURT: ... Mr. Powell, how old are you?

DEFENDANT POWELL: I'm 23 years old. I'll be 24 on Thursday.

THE COURT: How far did you go in school?

DEFENDANT POWELL: I graduated high school.

THE COURT: And do you have any learning disability?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you read, write, and understand the English language?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And is English your primary language?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Have you been treated recently for any mental illness or addiction of any kind?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Has anyone ever suggested you should be treated for mental health?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you currently under the influence of any drug, medication, or alcohol?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you been on any medication during your stay in jail?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What medication?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Remeron.

THE COURT: What is – what type of medication is that?

DEFENDANT POWELL: It treats depression.

THE COURT: How do you feel today?

DEFENDANT POWELL: I feel excellent, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand what's happening?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Does the medication affect your ability to understand what's going on today?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you under any other effects of the medication?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you received a copy of the guilty plea agreement?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you read the guilty plea agreement?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you understand everything in the guilty plea agreement?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you discussed this case with your attorney?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the representation and advice given to you by your attorney?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: As to the charges in the guilty plea agreement, how do you plead?

DEFENDANT POWELL: I plead guilty, Your Honor.

THE COURT: [Are you] making this plea freely and voluntarily?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Has anyone forced or threatened you or anyone close to you to get you to enter this plea?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Has anyone made any promises other than what's in the guilty plea agreement to get you to enter this plea?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I have before me the guilty plea agreement, and I'm going to hold this up, on page 7, is this your signature?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you understand everything contained in the guilty plea agreement?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And do you understand that as part of the guilty plea agreement, although you are not pleading guilty to these alleged offenses, the State will be allowed to argue them at the time of sentencing?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

... [Court lists ten additional robberies by date, location, and event number.]

THE COURT: So I don't know if I asked you, before you signed this plea agreement, did you read it and discuss it with your attorney?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you understand everything contained in this agreement?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You understand that there are certain constitutional rights that you're giving up by entering the guilty plea agreement?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You understand that you have a right to appeal on reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality of the proceedings?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And again, do you understand the range of punishment? DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Well, we're going to go through and put these on the record, so it's clear.

... [Parties recite penalty range for each and every count to which Defendant pled.]

THE COURT: Do you understand the range for each of those counts?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand sentencing is entirely up to me?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And do you understand that, again, it's up to me as to whether any or whether all of those counts run consecutively or concurrently?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And no one is in a position to promise you leniency or special treatment of any kind?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: [] What is it that you did on the 28th of September to cause you to plead guilty?

DEFENDANT POWELL: I went into two establishments, Your Honor, and I committed the armed robbery.

. . .

THE COURT: You went into those establishments and committed armed robberies?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And do you have any questions you'd like to ask me or your attorney before I accept this plea?

DEFENDANT POWELL: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Anything I left out?

MR. GIORDANI: No.

THE COURT: Okay. And also for the record, you had approximately two hours to discuss all of this – maybe longer than that now – with your attorney before accepting this?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And without telling me what they were, your attorney answered all your questions regarding the guilty plea agreement?

DEFENDANT POWELL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. The Court finds the Defendant's plea of guilty is freely and voluntarily made and the Defendant understands the nature and consequences of his plea and, therefore, accepts the plea of guilty.

Id. at 000213-19.

As this Court can see, there is absolutely no basis to allow Appellant to withdraw his guilty plea. The district court conducted an extremely thorough plea

canvass of both Appellant and his co-defendant, and they both responded appropriately and intelligently throughout. Appellant responded appropriately to all questions, indicated he had ample time to talk to his lawyer, and went so far as to say he felt "excellent" during his plea canvass. <u>Id.</u> That's because he knew he was getting a beneficial deal when he avoided ten additional robbery cases for pleading guilty to the charges he would have been convicted of by a jury anyway.

At the time this deal was entered into, a jury was in the hallway, and the State was entirely prepared to complete the trial. In fact, the trial had already begun, as the pleas were entered on the second day of jury selection. Id. at 000199, 000201. Appellant begged for negotiations, and, notwithstanding the fact that the State was confident in the outcome if the case proceeded to trial, the State entered into the negotiation. AA 000074. Appellant received a large benefit that incentivized him to take the deal. Specifically, he avoided being charged with dozens of additional counts – many of which included potential Life sentences. <u>Id.</u> at 000074-75; RA 000216-17. Those charges were discussed in detail, and Appellant never once raised a concern or objection to those charges being referenced. Id. The reason for that is simple. Appellant himself knew he committed the crimes, understood his exposure, and chose to avoid it. Then, after the jury was discharged, the State released all its witnesses from subpoena, halted any investigation into the additional offenses, and sent the files to P&P for PSI's to be completed, the Appellant claimed his plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered. AA 000033-38; RA 000221.

At the time of the plea canvass, the district court found Appellant's plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered into. RA 000219. Further, at the time of the hearing on Appellant's motion, the district court made similar findings:

And I, well, I didn't recall, but I did review the actual canvas where your client said that, I believe, I don't want to go – take the time to go to the page, but he says something about I'm excellent. And we – I inquired extensively, the best I could that he was knowingly and voluntarily making this plea and that he was aware of all the consequences, not the least which he signed the guilty plea agreement that sets forth everything.

AA 000079. "On appeal from a district court's denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, this Court 'will presume that the lower court correctly assessed the validity of the plea, and [] will not reverse the lower court's determination absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion." Riker, 111 Nev. at 1322, 905 P.2d at 710 (quoting Bryant, 102 Nev. at 272, 721 P.2d at 368). The record completely contradicts Appellant's claim, and therefore the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea.

Appellant has not set forth any valid basis whatsoever to withdraw his plea. Appellant's Motion rested upon three general claims: 1) the evidence in the ten additional cases was not tested in court, 2) the Appellant did not have an opportunity to review discovery on the ten related cases, and 3) trial counsel was ineffective in

advising Appellant to take the plea. AA 000034-35. Clearly, these claims do not provide a substantial reason that is both fair and just warranting withdrawal of a guilty plea – for several reasons. First, the State notes that the ineffective assistance of counsel claim will be addressed in section B, infra. As to the first two claims – that the ten related robberies had not been litigated and that they did not review discovery – those claims are nonsensical. Everyone in the room knew that those charges had not been filed, but that they could have been filed after the jury's verdict on the instant charges. AA 000018-19, 000074-75; RA 000201-02, 000216-17. That was the entire nature of the agreement. Trial counsel could not have known whether Appellant and his co-defendant committed those ten additional events - only Appellant and his co-defendant themselves knew whether they did. However, since they took the instant plea deal – they at least sought to limit their liability. The alternative for them would have been to complete the trial, run the risk of getting convicted of all counts in the instant case anyway, and then have more exposure on the back end when the State proceeded on the ten additional events. Clearly, Appellant wanted to limit his exposure and chose to avoid the chance of being convicted on dozens of additional charges. Based upon the plea canvass and the GPA itself, he chose to do so strategically. Appellant cannot now withdraw his pleas on a whim. Nor can Appellant withdraw his pleas based on a second opinion from a different attorney, or even cold feet. The legal standard for withdrawal of a guilty

plea is a "substantial reason that is both fair and just" – not "cold feet" or "a second opinion."

While the State need not set forth actual prejudice, Hubbard, 110 Nev. at 675-76, 877 P.2d at 521, the State would take this opportunity to address the broader implications of allowing Appellant to withdraw his plea based on nothing more than a whim. As this Court can see, there are no issues with the Guilty Plea Agreement, no issues with the plea canvass, and absolutely no reason to believe that anything else was going on behind the scenes that may render this guilty plea questionable. As such, allowing Appellant to withdraw his plea would render plea agreements and plea canvasses meaningless. If those things are done perfectly, and there is nothing outside those records that creates a question as to the voluntary and knowing nature of the guilty plea, why would any party – State or Defense – ever enter into a guilty plea, knowing it can be withdrawn for no good reason? When the guilty pleas were entered in this case, the district court discharged the jury, the State released dozens of witnesses from subpoena, did not file additional charges related to the ten robbery events (per the agreement), and sent its file to Parole & Probation for a PSI. In a perfect world with unlimited prosecutorial resources, the State would continue to investigate and build the strength of their case up until the moment the defendant is sentenced, but as this Court is aware, that is simply not possible in the real world. Allowing defendants to withdraw their pleas on a whim would change the entire

fabric of the justice system. That is why the law requires a substantial reason that is both fair and just before Appellant is allowed to withdraw his plea. No such reason was given here.

As to Appellant's claim that he had not received discovery on the ten additional cases, that claim fails as well. Most importantly, there is no right to pre-indictment discovery, so there was no "discovery" to begin with. In addition, as outlined thoroughly above, Appellant himself knew whether he was involved in the ten additional events, and the strength of the evidence in those cases is irrelevant. Appellant chose to take a negotiation which ensured him the least exposure. While Appellant's counsel may personally believe that the evidence in the additional cases was not as strong as the evidence in the underlying case, that is not a basis to allow Appellant to withdraw his guilty plea. Appellant pled guilty to the charges in the instant case, not the ten additional unfiled cases. Again, this is not a substantial reason that is both fair and just. Allowing the Appellant to withdraw his plea would be unfair and unjust.

# B. Appellant's counsel was effective, and gave him sound advice prior to his entry of plea.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact that is subject to independent review. <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). However, a district court's factual findings will be

given deference by this court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. <u>Riley v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994).

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also <a href="State v. Love">State v. Love</a>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S. Ct. at 2063-64; see also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the

inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069.

To the extent that a motion to withdraw plea is premised upon an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel, to succeed Appellant must establish that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient because it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness measured by prevailing professional norms; and, (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Appellant. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88; Riley, 110 Nev. at 646, 878 P.2d at 277-78. This Court may consider both prongs in any order and need not consider them both when a defendant's showing on either prong is insufficient. Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 987, 923 P.2d at 1107. Appellant demonstrates that counsel's performance was deficient when he can establish that counsel made errors so grave that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. To satisfy the prejudice prong of the Strickland standard, Appellant must establish a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Reeves v. State, 113 Nev. 959, 960, 944 P.2d 795, 796 (1997). A reasonable probability means a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the proceeding. Kirksey, 112 Nev. at 988.

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